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. Nevada Checker Cab Corporation et al

UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF NEVADA

BRENT NOBLEet al,

Plaintiffs,
2:15¢v-02322RCJVCF

VS.

NEVADA CHECKER CAB CORPet al, ORDER

Defendans.

N N N N e e e e e e e

This class action complairarises out of thalleged practicef severakaxi companie®f
printing morepersonalnformation on customer receipts thampermitted by fderal law
Pending before the Couga Motionto Dismiss(ECF Na 32).

l. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiffs allegesix Defendantaxi companiediaveviolated theFair and Accurate
Transactions Act (“FACTA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g) “by printing more than the last 5 difit
the card number on receipts provided to credit card and debit card cardholders transacting
business with Defendants.” (Compl. 11 5-6, ECF NoP2intiffs sued Defendanis this
Court,naming as a class all consumers receiving such receipts within tyeawvperiod
preceding the filing of the Complajristing six subclasses according to the six Defendabée

id. 17 23-2%
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Defendants mved to dismiss for failure to state a claiffhe Courdismissed the
Complaint (and the First Amended Complaint that had been filed in the meantithdgave to
amend because Plaintiffs had not alleged the way in which Defendants had violated § 168
but had merely recited the statufehe Second Amended Complaint A&”) includesa relevant
factualallegationthatDefendants printed the first number plus the last four numbers of
Plaintiffs’ credit card numbers on receipts. (Second Am. Compl. 11 30, ECF No. 31).
Defendants have again moved to dismiss for failure to state a claim.

. LEGAL STANDARDS

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requires only “a short and plain stdtefribe
claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief” in order to “give the deféfalanotice of
what the . . . claim is and the grounds upon which it reSiley v. Gibson355 U.S. 41, 47
(1957). Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) mandhimsa court dismiss a cause of acti
that fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. A motion to dismeysRurld
12(b)(6) tests the complaint’s sufficien@See N. Star Int’l v. Ariz. Corp. CommTi20
F.2d 578, 581 (9th Cir. 1983). When considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6)
failure to state a claim, dismissal is appropriate only when the complaint doegenibiegy
defendant fair notice of a legally cognizable claim and the grounds on whistsiSee Bell
Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). In considering whether the complaint is
sufficient to state a claim, the court will take all material allegations as true astdueothem in
the light most favorable to the plaintiBee NL Indus., Inc. v. Kaplan92 F.2d 896, 898 (9th
Cir. 1986). The court, however, is not required to accept as true allegations thatedye me
conclusory, unwarranted deductions of fact, or unreasonable infer&eeeSprewell v. Golden

State Warriors266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001).

20f8

1c(9),

for




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

A formulaic recitation of a cause of actiafith conclusory allegations is not sufficient;
plaintiff must plead facts pertaining to his own case making a violgtiansible,” not just
“possible.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 677-79 (2009) (citimgrombly 550 U.S. at 556)
(“A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content thawaltbe court to
draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is l@ablled misconduct alleged.”). That is
under the modern interpretation of Rule 8(a), a plaintiff must not only specify or anply
cognizable legal theoryCnleyreview), but ado must allege the facts of ltase so that the
court can determine whether the plaintiff has any basiehef under the legal theoryetas
specified or implied, assuming the facts are as he al{@gesnbly-lgbakeview). Put
differently, Conleyonly required a plaintiff to identify a major premise (a legal theory) and
conclude liability therefrom, butwombly-Igbalrequires a plaintiff additionally to allege minor
premises (facts of the plaintiff's case) such that the syllogism showing liabilagically
complete and that liability necessarily, not only possibly, follows (asguthaallegations are
true).

“Generally, a district court may not consider any material beyond theipdsan ruling
on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. However, material which is properly submitted as part of the
complaint may be considered on a motion to dismidal’Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Fein
& Co., 896 F.2d 1542, 1555 n.19 (9th Cir. 1990) (citation omitted). Similarly, “documents
whose contents are alleged in a complaint and whose authenticity no party questiohgbut
are not physically attached to the pleading, may be considered in ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6
motion to dismiss” without converting the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary
judgmentBranch v. Tunnelll4 F.3d 449, 454 (9th Cir. 1994). Moreover, under Federal Ru

of Evidence 201, a court may take judicial notice of “matters of public reddatk v. S. Bay
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Beer Distribs., InG.798 F.2d 1279, 1282 (9th Cir. 1986). Otherwise, if the district court

considers materials outside of the pleadings, the motion to dismiss is convertaanotion for

summary judgmentee Arpin v. Santa Clara Valley Transp. Age261 F.3d 912, 925 (9th Cir.

2001).
(1.  ANALYSIS

Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, no person that accepts
credit cards or debit cards for ttransaction of business shall print more than the
last 5 digits of the card number or the expiration date upon any receipt provided to
the cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction.

15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g)(1)Defendants argue that printing the first number plus the last four
numbers is not a violation of § 1681c(g)(1) because the first number of a card is siogdy a
identifying the card companyiformation thait is lawful to print on receipts in word form—
and is therefore not the kind of private financial information FACTA was intendedtecpr
Seege.qg, Broderick v. 119TCbay, LL&G70 F. Supp. 2d 612, 618-19 (W.D. Mich. 20@)t
seg e.g, Tchoboian v. FedEx Office & Print Servs., Indo. SA CV10-01008, 2011 WL
12842230, at *3—4 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 14, 2011) (disagreeing Riitideridk and refusing to
dismiss where the plaintiffs alleged the first two pluslésé four numbers were printedyhe
Courtagrees with the conclusion of atsisdistrict court in this Circuit in a multidistrict
litigation case thaprinting the first number plus the last four numbers is not a violation of
§ 1681c(g)(1):

Defendants expert, Mari Frank, has opined, moreover, that the printing of
the first six digits of the credit card number, in addition to the permissible last
four, could not possibly cause actual harm to consumiéhts is because the first
six digits of any credit or debit card number identify the issuing bank or other
entity, not an account number unique to the consumer. The seventh through
sixteenth digits of a credit or debit card number contain unique idestifi
FACTA therefore permits only the thirteenth through sixteenth numbers to be

printed on the credit card receiptn this case, Toys did not print the seventh
through twelfth numbers on its receipt&ACTA, moreover, does not prohibit

40f8

A4




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

printing the nara of credit card issuer on a receifthe first six digits that were

incorrectly printed on the receipt, therefore, provided only information about the

issuing bank, not information unique to an individual consumer.
In re Toys “R”Us FACTALItig., Nos. MDL 08-01980, CV 06-08163, CV 08-06645, 2010 WL
5071073, at *11 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 17, 20X@otnotes omitted)

Courts disagree whether the statute is ambiguobe.Cburt believes it is. Is the first
digit plus the last four digits “more than the last 5 digits?” It is certdother than’the last
five digits, but it is just as certainly nttnore than five digits. Knowing, as discussed in the
Toys “R” Uslitigation, that the first few digits represent information concerning the ssuidrn
and that only the latter digits represent personal account numbers, “more thahSledas”
would appear to restrict only printing the last @ixnoredigits. It isalso clear that there is no
restriction on printing things such as descriptiongeshs purchased, datand time of
transactios, andhames of mercharg, information which, like the identity of the card issuer,
could be useful to a fraudsterengineering a phone call to extract additional informdtiom a
consumer. Yet no one imagines this kind of information cannot be printed under FACTA,
would be the result of readingiore than the last 5 digits” to mean something like “anything
other than the last five digits.”

Defendants also argue thad allegations indicate willfulness, as required under
§ 1681n(a).That is:

[A] company subject to FCRA does not act in reckless disregard of it unless the

action is not only a violation under aasonable reading of the statstéérms, but

shows that the company ran a risk of violating the law substantially gthater
the risk associated with a reading that was merely careless.
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Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. BuB51 U.S. 47, 69 (2007).There isno liability where a company’s
reading of the relevant statute is objectively reasonable, i.e., where seeeddl reasonable
interpretations is complied with, despite any evidence of subjective baddadh.70& n.20.
The Court finds that at a minimum, Defendants’ reading of the statute to permintiregpnf
the first number plus the last four numbers is reasonable.

Even assuming printing the first number plus the last four nuncbestitutesawillful ,
technical violation of the statutepwever, “because Congress did not prohibit the printing of
issuer information on the credit card receipt, there is no possibility thatitti@gof the first
[digit] could have resulted in a risk of harm greater than that prohibited by CohgmassToys
“R” UsFACTALIitig., 2010 WL 5071073, at *12Thatmeans Plaintiffs have no standing to
complain of the putativeechnical violatios of the statut@lleged here, becauiee putative
violations createl no ‘concreté harmof the type sought to be prevented by Congrasd
Plaintiffs have noseparately allegegnyactual harm, i.ethey have not alleged amgsulting
credit card fraudSeeSpokeo, Inc. v. Robin$36 S. Ct. 1540, 1549-50 (2016) (holding thate
is no standing to sue fortare, technicadtatutory violation absent “concrete injury” which
means aBminimuma degreef risk that the harm envisioned by Congress will materialize

At the hearingon the present motioiRlaintiffs argued thahe Toys “R” Uscourt’s
potentially persuasive analysis was foreclasg&8ateman v. Am. Multi-Cinema, In623 F.3d
708 (9th Cir. 2010). Plaintiff quoted the following exmeirom Bateman “from December
2006 to January 2007, AMC issued credit and debit card receipts from some of its automg

offices that included both the first four and the last four digits of the credit caimlagon of

1 The civil liability provision of 8 1681n governs FACTA, as well, which was an amendme
FCRA. SeeFair and Accurate Credit Transactiohst of 2003, Pub. L. No. 108-159, § 113, 11
Stat. 1952 (2003).
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FACTA.” 623 F.3d at 711. Plaintiffs, howevemitted the first three words of that sentence:
“Bateman allged that . . . .1d. TheBatemanopinion concerned class certification issues ang
did not concern any interpretationfeACTA itself. See generally id.

Here, the harm envisioned by Congrésedit card fraud) hasotbeen made materially
more likely to occur, because printing the first number plus the last four nugnbessan
identity thief no morgoersonainformation about a person’s account than Congress has
permitted to be printedn receipts Although Plaintifs argue that Defendartteredid not
separately print the name of the card issuer, such that the first number givestialfohudster
“extra” information, the fact remains thifiat “extra” information is not of the tygeongress hag
prohibited the printing of.

In summary, th&€ourt rules that Plaintiffs have no Article Il standing to pursue their
claims under FACTA. For the convenience of the Court of Appeals, the &swoirules, as
addressedsupra thateven assumingtanding undespokeothere was no FACTA violation
here because Defendaritderpretation of the statute was not unreasonable under the stand
of theSafecaCourt’s interpretation of § 1681n(a).
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CONCLUSION

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED thathe Motion to Dismiss(ECF No. 32is GRANTED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED thahe Motion for Leave to File a Response to Plaintiffg
Notice of Supplemental Authority (ECF No.)Y48 GRANTED, and the Clerk shall FILE the
briefing attached theret(ECF No. 431).

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Clerk shall enter judgment and close the case

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 19th day of August, 2016.

ROBERT C/JDNES
United States Digtrict Judge
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